O9

FILED

910 J. WHITE

JAN 13 1998 7 2/2

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

· •

JOHN 0. WILLIAMS, Appellant

٧.

THE FLORIDA BAR, BOARD OF GOVERNORS, Appellee

CASE NO. 92,038

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN 0. WILLIAMS
BOYD, Lindsey, Williams & Branch, P.A.
1407 Piedmont Drive East
Tallahassee, FL 32312
Tel 850.386.2171
Florida Bar No. 320420

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal of an order of the Florida Bar Board of Governors that denied Appellant credit for correct answers on his real estate certification exam.

Appellant is a member of the Florida Bar who took the examination for certification by the Florida Bar as a real estate specialist. Appellant did not receive a passing grade and appealed to the Grade Review Panel. The Grade Review Panel increased Appellant's score on essay question #6 from a 3 to a 4 and deemed all other grading correct.

Appellant next appealed to the Certification Plan Appeals Committee, which remanded his exam to the Grade Review Panel with instructions to review question #1 in light of the Bar's review course material. Appellant relied on the Bar's review materials in his answer to question #1 and the Bar refused to give him credit therefor. Despite the correctness of his answer and the instructions of the Appeals Committee, the Grade Review Panel refused to increase Appellant's score.

Appellant has appealed this grade and the grading procedures (or lack thereof) to the Board of Governors with the same result.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

After purchasing the Bar's review course materials prepared for the real estate certification exam, Appellant took the real estate certification exam. The Bar set the passing grade for that exam at 69 points. Appellant received a grade of 65.08 points. Appellant appealed his score on several questions, and pursues two in particular herein, essay question #1 and essay question #6.

Appellant's answer to question #1 is legally correct and is supported by review course materials that the Bar prepared and sold specifically for preparation for this exam. Appellant's answer is also supported by case law and Attorney's Title Fund Notes, which are the industry standard in the real estate field. The Bar refused to give credit to Appellant because his answer did not match the Bar's model answer for that question.

Appellant's answer to question #6 is mutually exclusive of the model answer created by the Bar. During the course of appealing his exam score, the Bar admitted that Appellant's answer is correct, but then proceeded to increase Appellant's score from 3 to 4 rather than the possible 6. (Under the holistic grading process used, this translates into an Increase in Appellant's score from 65.08 points to 66.91.) The Bar's change of score does not make sense in this situation.

Appellant has sought information on the grading and review processes, and the Bar has provided no information except a generic

pamphlet on the concept of holistic grading. The Bar has refused to make public any information on how exams are scored, how model answers are created, how the validity of model answers is determined, how passing grades are determined, why, contrary to usual statistical practices, holistic grading is used with such a small population, what standards are used to grade exams, etc.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant is 2.09 points short of a passing grade on the real estate certification exam, and the Florida Bar refuses to give him credit for a correct answer that is worth up to 5.49 points. Not only is Appellant's answer supported by case law and the Attorney's Title Fund Notes (which are widely regarded as the industry standard among real estate practitioners), Appellant's answer is supported by the review materials that the Florida Bar itself prepared for applicants to the real estate certification exam. The Florida Bar compiled and sold review course materials specifically designed to prepare applicants for the real estate certification exam. Appellant parroted back the answer from those materials, and the Florida Bar now refuses to give him credit for his answer. This is fundamentally unfair.

This Court has on numerous occasions expressed its concern over a lack of standards and excess discretion in the certification process because of the potential for and/or appearance of impropriety, protectionism, abuse, and favoritism that could result. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendment to Rules Reaulatina the Florida Bar Chapter 6 (Legal Specialization and Education)</u>, 548 So.2d 1120, 1151-1152 (Fla. 1989) (Shaw, J., dissenting); <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendment to the Bylaws under the Integration Rule (Florida Certification Plan)</u>, 487 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1986); <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendment to Integration Rule (Certification Plan)</u>, 399 So.2d 1385 (Fla.

1981). This case provides a clear example of those problems in the grading and review processes established by the Florida Bar. The Florida Bar has refused to give Appellant the points he deserves because his answer does not match their model answer, notwithstanding the fact that Appellant's answer is at least as correct as the model answer arbitrarily chosen by the Bar. Appellant's procedural challenges were also denied without any reason. The Bar's actions are problematic in several respects.

First, exam question #1 has no one clear answer; rather, several approaches are reasonable under the current state of the law. The Florida Bar exercised its discretion in an arbitrary and capricious manner when it chose one answer as the "right" answer and penalized any applicant who wrote an answer that was legally correct but did not happen to guess which answer the Bar was looking for.

Second, the grading and review processes are shrouded in secrecy. After arbitrarily denying Appellant credit for his answer, the Florida Bar allows challenges solely to its procedure, which it refuses to disclose. The Bar neither publishes nor reveals upon request any of the following relevant information: How are model answers created? How is their correctness determined? How are other possible approaches to the question treated? By what criteria are applicants' answers compared to model answers? How is the passing score determined? Why, contrary to norms in the statistical field, is holistic grading deemed suitable with such a small applicant pool?

Assuming questions are to be graded holistically (i.e., using a comparative rather than absolute process), how can the Grade Review Panel make any valid assessments when the Bar's own rule forbids the reviewer's access to the range of papers, thus preventing any comparison?

With regard to exam question #6, the Florida Bar has admitted its error in the original grading, but provided no basis for the extent of the grade change. The Bar essentially admitted that Appellant's answer was correct and the model answer was incorrect, and yet the Bar granted Appellant only one "holistic" point, rather than the maximum points possible (which would raise the Appellant's grade 3.66 points, which would exceed the minimum passing score).

Appellant's qualifications far exceed those required for board certification in real estate. His exam demonstrates ample competency. He has been denied his certification because of actions by the Florida Bar that are fundamentally unfair, arbitrary, and capricious. This Court should order the Florida Bar to certify Appellant as a specialist in real estate.

ARGUMENT

It is fundamentally unfair to denv Appellant credit for a correct answer that is supported by case law, industry standard references, and the Florida Bar's own review course materials,

Appellant has not received credit for his answer to question #1¹ even though it is supported by 1. the Real Estate Certification review course materials published by the Florida Bar Continuing Legal Education Committee and endorsed by the BLSE, 1996 Real Estate Certification Review Course Lecture Outline, p. 1.48 (D.1), 2. the Attorney's Fund Title Notes, TN 20.01.15, and 3. case law. American Central Ins. Co. of St. Louis, Mo. v. Whitlock, 165 So. 380 (Fla. 19361, Espenship v. Carter, 514 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), and Dixon v. Davis, 155 So.2d 189 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1963). There is no statute or case law that clearly supports the answer the BLSE chose for Question #1 and/or that refutes the Appellant's answer. This is fundamentally unfair. The Appeals Committee recognized this and therefore remanded the exam back to the Grade Review Panel with instructions to consider the legal support for Appellant's answer. The Grade Review Panel did not take the hint; it refused to give Appellant the credit

References herein to "Question $\sharp 1$ " refer to one specific aspect of the question, namely, whether a conveyance to a husband and wife as joint tenants creates a tenancy by the entirety or a tenancy in common.

he deserves, and it refused to state any reason or cite any contrary authority.

The issue before the Court is **not** to decide a question of real estate law so as to determine whether the model answer or Appellant's answer is more correct. Rather, the issue before the Court is whether it is fundamentally unfair to deny Appellant credit when the Bar's model answer is inconsistent with the materials that the Bar advised the applicant to rely upon.

Where multiple correct answers to an exam auestlon are possible, it is arbitrary and capricious to grant credit for only one of the correct answers and deny credit for all other correct answers.

Question #1 is composed such that it has no single clear answer and no blinding authority to support any one of the reasonable possibilities to the exclusion of all others. The Bar has chosen one possible answer as its model answer and refuses to give credit for any other answer, even if such an answer is legally correct. This constitutes precisely the "arbitrary or capricious action" prohibited by Standing Policy 2.08(g). As stated earlier, Appellant's answer is supported by I. the Real Estate Certification review course materials published by the Florida Bar Continuing Legal Education

Course Lecture Outline, p. 1.48 (D.1), 2. the Attorney's Fund Title Notes, TN 20.01.15, and 3. case law. American Central Ins. Co. of St. Louis, Mo. v. Whitlock, 165 So. 380 (Fla. 1936), Espenship v. Carter, 514 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), and Dixon v. Davis, 155 So.2d 189 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1963). Further, there Is no statute or case law that clearly supports the answer the Bar chose for Question #1 and/or that refutes the Appellant's answer. Appellant's answer is thus a valid response to questions #1 and the Bar's refusal to honor it constitutes arbitrary and capricious action.

The Bar's grading review processes are flawed in that they ask only whether an examinee's answer matches the Bar's model answer. The process precludes any challenge to the validity of the model answer itself and thus makes possible the absurd situation confronting Appellant.

Ill. The grading and review procedures are shrouded in secrecy and produce unexplainable results: the procedures thus violate this Court's numerous admonitions asainst a lack of standards and excess discretion.

The secretive operations of the Bar violate the purpose and spirit of Standing Policy 2.08(g). The Bar conceals how the exam is created, how the passing score is determined, and the methods and standards of grading and

review. This method of operation places a cloak over all actions and limits the opportunity to observe and challenge the actions that Standing Policy 2.08(g) is designed to prevent. The Bar thus exposes itself to a charge of "conspiracy of silence" by failing to publish or even make available the basls for establishing a passing score for the exam or the standards that should be utilized in the grade review process. Although a lack of written standard is not necessarily arbitrary or capricious per se, the Caligula-esque² secrecy represents a greater danger because it creates the opportunity for unchallengeable abuse. More importantly, it creates the appearance of impropriety which this fine organization simply does not deserve.

This Court has on numerous occasions expressed its concern over a lack of standards and excess discretion in the certification process because of the potential for and/or appearance of Impropriety, protectionism, abuse, and favoritism that could result. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendment to Rules Regulating the Florida Bar Chapter 6 (Legal Specialization and Education)</u>, 548 So.2d 1120, 1151-1152 (Fla. 1989) (Shaw, J., dissenting); <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendment to the Bylaws under the Integration Rule (Florida Certification Plan)</u>, 487 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1986); <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendment to Integration Rule (Certification Plan)</u>, 399 So.2d 1385 (Fla.

² Caligula was the post-Caesar Roman emperor who published his laws high atop a building where none of his subjects could read them. He proceeded to charge them with knowledge of information that he had made unobtainable. He is also well known for having made his horse a senator.

1981).

IV. Where the initial grade is determined by ranking and comparing ail applicants' exams, the Bar's rule that forbids comparison at the review level renders the reviewer's conclusions invalid.

The initial grade on essay questions is apparently determined by Comparing an applicant's answer to ail other answers submitted. See Response of BLSE, p. 8. As such, there is no objective benchmark available to measure any single answer. in reviewing a grade, the question is not whether the answer is right or wrong, but whether the answer is better or worse than that of other applicants, and if so, by how much. However, the review is apparently performed by persons without the benefit of having seen the entire population of answers. Standing Policy 2.08(f)(3). ("INIo member of the Ireview1 panel shall have had prior involvement with that examination either as a committee member, drafter or grader.") The reviewers read single answers in a vacuum; they must determine whether a grade, which represents relative rank, is correct. They are thus cast adrift without the necessary criteria for the determination they must make.

The review panel raised this applicant's grade on essay question #6 by one point (on a scale from 1 to 6) without the benefit of a comparison with the other applicants' answers.

CONCLUSION

The Florida Bar has been fundamentally unfalr in grading Appellant's exam. Its actions have been arbitrary and capricious. Its secretive grading and review policies violate this court's admonitions against unbridled discretion and the appearance of impropriety.

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