## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	'ILED	
	SED J. VEHTE	091
	PEB 0 1998	1
		3/2
		40

THE FLORIDA BAR

1

Case No. 92,038

RE: JOHN 0. WILLIAMS

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA BAR BOARD OF GOVERNORS

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE
BOARD OF LEGAL SPECIALIZATION & EDUCATION

THOMAS M. ERVIN, JR. Fla. Bar No. 107788 of the law firm of ERVIN, VARN, JACOBS & ERVIN Post Office Drawer 1170 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (850) 224-9135 (850) 222-9164 (FAX)

ATTORNEYS FOR BOARD OF LEGAL SPECIALIZATION & EDUCATION

and

JOHN F. HARKNESS, Jr. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850)561-5000

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the instant matter appellant was properly denied certification as a "Board Certified Real Estate Lawyer" because he failed to pass the required certification examination, R. Regulation Fla. Bar 6-9.3(e).

Appellant was properly tested and thereafter provided his rights of appeal and review at every phase of the proceedings. His contentions of improper grading were carefully considered. In the process of grade review he actually received a grade increase on one answer, and did not receive an increase on the other because his substantive contentions were without merit, and his answer merited only the "3" score awarded.

Despite the fact that the "grade review process" was closed two levels of review earlier (by action of an independent Grade Review Panel), this Court is now requested by appellant to evaluate whether the scoring of his individual answers was correct, or flawed and require adjustment. The authorization of limited review of alleged "arbitrary and capricious" action after grade review is closed should not be allowed to effectively keep the process of grade review "open" through proceedings in and decision by this Court.

Appellant's arguments of secrecy shrouded process and "Caligula-esque" procedures is wholly without merit. The certification program and examination-related procedures are established and available not only in applicable rules and standing

policies, but also in an extensive Board Certification Examinations Technical Manual.

Appellee BLSE respectfully submits that appellant Williams has failed to demonstrate any basis for relief by this Court. His answers were graded properly and he simply failed the requisite certification exam, His ensuing denial of certification was not the product of any arbitrary or capricious action or any unfairness.

It is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the action of the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE SCORING OF HIS ANSWER TO ESSAY QUESTION NO. 1 WAS ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS OR UNFAIR, OR THAT CPAC OR THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE DENIAL OF CERTIFICATION.

Point I of Appellant's Initial Brief (pp. 7-8) is directed solely to essay question No. 1, and this point of answer will, therefore, be likewise restricted.

In answer to this point it is first appropriate to note that this matter was commenced as a "grade review" appeal. The system for "grade review" in the certification process must be viewed as a whole, but with different functions being performed at different steps in the process.

When appellant was advised of his failing score on the May, 1996, Real Estate Certification Examination, his first recourse under established standing policy was to review, with a member of the Real Estate Certification Committee, the exam, model answer, his answer, assigned scoring, and other matters relating to his failing score. Appellant availed himself of that review and, in the process, identified two objective questions and two essay questions (Nos. 1 and 6) which he believed were incorrectly graded.

A basic premise of the certification system for <u>all</u> areas of certification is that the process of <u>examination grading</u>, or scoring, of answers should be performed by lawyers who, by prior certification, have demonstrated special knowledge and competence in the area of law and practice being examined.

To this end, independent Grade Review Panels have been provided in the "grade review" process. To ensure independence of this process, the certified lawyers who are selected to serve on such review panels are <a href="mailto:expressly">expressly</a> proscribed from having had <a href="mailto:expressly">any</a> prior involvement with the subject examination as a committee member, exam or "model answer" drafter, or grader. Standing Policy 2.08(f)(3).

At the grade review level appellant was specifically authorized to present "any additional supporting authority" to substantiate his claim of incorrect grading. Standing Policy 2.08(f)(4).

Appellant Williams availed himself of this Grade Review Panel process and, in fact, secured an increase of his score on Essay No. 6 from a "3" to a "4" (Appendix, Tab 2). The independent Grade Review Panel determined that the initial grading of Essay No. 1,. and assignment of a "3" score, were correct (Appendix, Tab 2).

Because appellant's overall examination score remained below passing even after the Grade Review Panel's increase of score on Essay No. 6, appellant was not entitled to certification. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 6-9.3(e).

At this point in the certification appeals process the functions to be performed, and standards for review, change. When the Grade Review Panel completes its task, the remaining available steps of appeal are to be performed by bodies (CPAC and the Board of Governors) which are **not** comprised of attorneys with established

(by prior certification) special knowledge and expertise in the area of law being examined.

For this reason, Standing Policy 2.08(f)(5) expressly states that decisions of Grade Review Panels close the grade review process, and Standing Policies 2.08(g) and 4.03 establish that proceedings before the Certification Plan Appeals Committee and the Board of Governors will extend to, and consider, only "procedural issues" in the review and petition process and "clear and convincing" demonstrations of "fraud, discrimination, or arbitrary and capricious action." In short, neither the Certification Plan Appeals Committee nor the Board of Governors regrade or rescore examination answers. Their review function is restricted, as described above.

It is appellee **BLSE's** view that to allow an applicant, such as appellant, to appeal to CPAC, and then the Board, and argue that an assigned grade on an exam answer is "arbitrary" is to allow the exception (of limited review) to swallow the whole, and effectively continue the grade review process throughout all levels of appeal, contrary to the express provision of Standing Policy 2.08(f)(5).

Such a system is analogous to allowing unsuccessful Bar admission applicants to challenge the scores awarded on individual Bar examination questions through three earlier levels of review, and then bring the matter of each answer grade or score to this Court for review and requested adjustment on the basis of alleged arbitrariness in earlier scoring and scoring review, Appellee BLSE

respectfully submits that such a system was never intended, or provided for, in creation of the certification appeals process.

If, however, an assigned answer grade (or grades) is subject to review as "arbitrary" at the level of the Certification Plan Appeals Committee, then the standard for review must be whether "arbitrary and capricious" action of both the initial area certification committee and the independent Grade Review Panel is established by "clear and convincing" evidence. Standing Policy 4.03(a).

In the instant matter the Certification Plan Appeals Committee properly recognized that its function did not extend to regrading or rescoring real property examination answers. In proceedings before CPAC the appellant vigorously urged that the materials he has included in his appendix at tabs 10 and 11 established that the model answer to Essay Question No. 1 was wrong; that his answer was right; and that, therefore, his answer deserved a higher score, and denial of same was arbitrary and capricious.

Under these circumstances (and in proper recognition that appellant's contentions were properly part of the "closed" grade review process), the Certification Plan Appeals Committee granted appellant an unusual second opportunity to present his argument and contentions to the Grade Review Panel. By its order, the Certification Plan Appeals Committee "remanded" for reconsideration by the independent Grade Review Panel the issue of whether appellant's answer to Essay Question No. 1 was properly scored or graded (Appendix to Appellant's Initial Brief, Tab 6).

Contrary to appellant's argument, the Certification Plan Appeals Committee did <u>not</u>, by its order, find that appellant's answer to question No. 1 had been graded erroneously or unfairly. It did <u>not</u> instruct or suggest that the grade on appellant's answer be revised. In recognition that the subject of appellant's contentions came wholly within the grading and grade review process, it merely ordered, in pertinent part, that:

It hereby REMANDS to the original 1996 Real Estate Certification Grade Review Panel examinee # 344's answers to essay question number 1. This answer shall be reconsidered in light of the material attached to this Order.

The decision of the Grade Review Panel shall be rendered at least ten days in advance of the May 13, 1997 Real Estate Certification Examination. The decision shall be final and shall not be subject to review by this Committee.

Appendix, Tab 6.

The clear import of this holding by the Certification Plan Appeals Committee was to reject all of appellant's "appeal claims" of clear and convincing arbitrariness, but to afford appellant one additional opportunity to present to the Grade Review Panel his contention (and supporting materials) that his answer to Essay Question No. 1 should be graded more generously than the assigned score of "3," which under the established scoring system denotes:

in response to the question but is inadequate. A 3 answer demonstrates a weak understanding of the facts, misses significant issues, fails to recognize applicable law, and demonstrates inadequate reasonability ability.

Appendix, Tab 7, Final Page.

The Grade Review Panel did, again, review appellant's **answer** and grade as requested and entered its decision upon second review, as follows:

## DECISION OF GRADE REVIEW PANEL

THIS CAUSE came before the Grade Review Panel on April 9, 1997, upon remand by the Appeals Committee of the Board of Governors.

The Grade Review Panel specifically reconsidered Examinee #344's answer to essay question number 1 along with the material attached to the March 19, 1997 Appeals Committee's Order. The Panel voted unanimously to reaffirm its November 4, 1996 decision in which it determined the grade assigned to essay question number 1 by the Real Estate Certification Committee to be correct.

DATED this 9th day of April, 1997.

/s/ G. Thomae Smith
G. Thomas Smith, Chair, Grade Review Panel
Jim Conner
David Pressly
Neal Sivyer

Appendix, Tab 8, pp. 2-3.

Even at this point, the process of review available below to appellant was not complete. Appellant then took an appeal to the full Board of Governors, which affirmed the action of CPAC and the denial of certification (Appendix, Tab 9).

Appellant has argued herein, and at each step of the process below, that <u>his</u> answer to Essay Question No. 1 is correct, and the model answer which was considered in determining his grade or **score** of "3" is wrong. He asserts this as established fact in the Statement of the Facts of Appellant's Initial Brief (see p. 2).

At the risk of rekindling before this Court the long closed "grade review" process, appellee BLSE is compelled to respond. Appellant was wrong when he answered the exam question; he was wrong at the levels of CPAC and Board of Governors review; and he is wrong in these proceedings.

The primary **or** initial issue posed by Essay Question No. **1 was** what type of title interest was created when a residential condominium was conveyed to Mr. and Mrs. Jones when the conveyance **was** to, and title taken, as follows:

Sadie and Jacob Jones, as Joint Tenants.

Appendix, Tab 1, p. 9.

Appellant insists that, because it is not necessary that the husband and wife status be expressed in such a deed, a tenancy by the entireties was created. As authority, he cites review course materials included at Appendix, Tab 10, and a title note included at Appendix, Tab 11.

He overlooked, and continues to overlook, that while the stated form of conveyance was silent as to marital status of the grantees, it was **not** silent **as** to the conveyance of title intended. It expressly stated that title was conveyed and transferred to the Jones "as Joint Tenants," and did **not** provide for any right of survivorship.

It is clear that, under modern law, married persons <u>may</u> hold property individually, as tenants in common, or as joint tenants, as well as hold property as tenants by the entireties. See <u>AmSouth</u> <u>Bank of Florida v. Hepner</u>, 647 So. 2d 907, 909 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

If the deed of realty is silent as to the nature of the estate being conveyed, then an estate by the entireties is presumed to be intended and created. **AmSouth**, **supra**, **at p.** 909.

The rule of presumption or construction, however, is not absolute. It has been recognized that the estate by the entireties is not automatically created where there is express language in the deed showing a contrary intent. <u>Essenshis v. Carter</u>, 514 So. **2d** 1108, 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); <u>Estate of Suggs</u>, 405 So. **2d** 1360, 1361 (Fla. 5th DCA **1981)**.

This "contrary intent" exception is specifically recognized in the materials relied upon by appellant and included at Appendix, Tabs 10 and 11. The review materials at Appendix, Tab 10, state in pertinent part as to creation of an estate by the entireties:

Automatic when conveyance made to husband and wife, unless a contrary intent is stated.

(Emphasis supplied.)

The title note included at Appendix, Tab 11, states in pertinent part as to the issue of estate created:

Even though a deed does not specify that the grantees take by the entirety and even though they are not referred to as husband and wife in the deed, a tenancy by the entirety is created if the grantees are in fact husband and wife in the absence of a contrary exwression of intent in the deed. American Central Ins. co. of St. Louis, MO. v. Whitlock; 165 So. 380 (Fla. 1936); and Espenship v. Carter, 514 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). . . .

(Emphasis supplied.)

In the instant case <u>the deed</u> stated that tile was conveyed to "Sadie and Jacob Jones, as Joint Tenants," The requisite "contrary intent" was, therefore, clear and express on the face of the deed.

Appellant has also cited <u>Dixon v. Davis</u>, 155 So. 2d 189 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963), as supporting his "correct" answer that a tenancy by the entireties was created, That reliance is misplaced. In <u>Dixon</u> v. Davis, *supra*, the court held in pertinent part at page 191:

Florida adheres to the common law principle that husband and wife are legally one person, and where land is conveyed to both husband and wife, unless a contrary intention is expressed in the conveyance they acquire title as tenants by the entireties. It should be remembered, however, that the creation of such an estate rests upon a rule of construction which is based upon the presumption of intent. If a contrary intent aawears, it will be followed.

(Emphasis supplied.)

In <u>Dixon v. Davis</u>, *supra*, the court held that conveyance language of "share and share alike" showed contrary intent and created a tenancy in common, not an estate by the entireties,

By like measure, the express deed language that Sadie and Jacob Jones were to receive title "as Joint Tenants" demonstrated a contrary intent to tenancy by the entireties ownership.

Moreover, since a tenancy by the entireties was not created then Section 689.15, Florida Statutes, came into operation where the deed was to the Jones "as Joint Tenants" without any mention of survivorship. That statutory provision is as follows:

The doctrine of the right of survivorship in cases of real estate and personal property held by joint tenants shall not prevail in this state; that is to say, **except** in cases of

estates by entirety, a devise. transfer or conveyance heretofore or hereafter made to two or more shall create a tenancy in common, unless the instrument creating the estate shall exwressly provide for the risht of survivorship; and in cases of estates by entirety, the tenants upon dissolution of marriage, shall become tenants in common.

(Emphasis supplied.)

See also <u>Estate of Suggs</u>, 405 So. 2d 1360, 1361 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

The model answer applied in grading answers on the Real Property Certification exam, therefore, properly and correctly recognized that when the property was taken by Sadie and Jacob Jones "as Joint Tenants," without any express provision for right of survivorship, that which was created was a tenancy in common.

Thus, in the instant matter, appellant not only "missed" in his answer to Essay Question No. 1 that conveyance "as Joint Tenants" represented a contrary intent to creation of an estate by the entireties, he also "missed" that the presence of such a contrary intent would preclude the estate by the entireties; "missed" that the use of the "as Joint Tenants" language without expression of right of survivorship would create a tenancy in common under Florida law; and "missed" a number of deeds and other steps which would be required for his examination "client" to obtain marketable and insurable title.

Moreover, appellant has previously noted that he "missed" or "omitted" seven separate issues included in the model answer (Appendix, Tab 1, pp. 15-18). Appellant's after-the-fact argument that the answers were outside the scope of the question as he

construed it does not carry weight where the broad inquiry extended to:

All of Mr. Jones' children agree that the apartment should be sold. They have located a buyer who is willing to purchase the property for \$150,000, which is its approximate fair market value.

You have been retained to represent the buyer, Shirley Black. It is your responsibility to make sure that Mrs. Black obtains a marketable and insurable title. From whom will conveyances be required? Please discuss fully, In addition, please discuss the title issues which arise in the facts described and explain the ways of resolving them.

Appendix, Tab 1, p. 10.

It is, therefore, respectfully submitted that even if substantive law must be examined at this ultimate point of review, and even if scores on individual exam answers must be reviewed for indicia of arbitrariness, appellant has failed to show any error or "unfairness" in the grading below. He has failed to demonstrate any arbitrary or capricious action in the grading of his answer to Essay Question No. 1, or in the denial of certification.

## POINT II

THERE WERE NOT "MULTIPLE CORRECT" ANSWERS TO ESSAY QUESTION NO. 1, AND APPELLANT HAS NOT BEEN ARBITRARILY OR UNFAIRLY DENIED CREDIT FOR THE ANSWER GIVEN,

Appellee BLSE first respectfully submits that there were not, and could not be, "multiple correct" answers to Essay Question No. 1. The title, when conveyed to "Sadie Jones and Jacob Jones, as Joint Tenants," could not be both a tenancy by the entireties and a tenancy in common. The types of ownership are mutually exclusive.

For the reasons set forth in preceding Point I, appellee BLSE respectfully submits that the estate created was a tenancy in common, as set forth in the model answer. However, assuming arguendo, that tenancy by the entireties was a possible or arguable created estate, this would not establish that the "3" score awarded for appellant's answer was arbitrary and capricious.

Appellant's answer was that a tenancy by the entireties <u>was</u> created. He did <u>not</u> answer or recognize that the conveyance to the Jones expressly "as Joint Tenants" could be interpreted as an expression of intent contrary to creation of a tenancy by the entireties. He did not answer or recognize that since this "possible" holding existed, leading to the possible establishment of a tenancy in common, the securing of marketable and insurable title would require appropriate action to remove title claims of Sadie Jones' three heirs.

If appellant had recognized by his answer (as he does in this point of argument) that this creation of tenancy in common was even

a possibility, his score would likely have been higher. Had he also included in his answer the steps necessary to address this possibility, his score undoubtedly would have been higher. He did not and that omission, together with the omission of seven other issues recognized in the model answer, is sufficient to establish that the awarded score of "3" was not arbitrary, capricious or unfair.

Appellant also argues that the grading process is flawed, stating at page 9 of Appellant's Initial Brief:

The Bar's grading review processes are flawed in that they ask only whether an **examinee's** answer matches the Bar's model answer. The process precludes any challenge to the validity of the model answer itself and thus makes possible the absurd situation confronting Appellant,

This argument is clearly erroneous and without basis. One of the clear functions of the Grade Review Panel as part of the grading review process is to consider such a "substantive" disagreement with prior scoring under the model answer. Policy 2.08(f)(2) expressly authorizes an applicant, such as appellant, to submit to the Grade Review Panel "any additional supporting authority deemed appropriate to substantiate the claim of incorrect grading." Policy 2.08(f)(4) expressly commands that the Grade Review Panel shall "review the substantive basis for each petition filed."

In the instant matter the appellant was afforded not one but two Grade Review Panel reviews of his answer as to Essay Question No. 1. After the second review, the decision of the Grade Review Panel expressly recited that:

The Grade Review Panel specifically reconsidered Examinee # 344 's answer to essay question number 1 along with the material attached to the March 19, 1997 Appeals Committee's Order.

Appendix, Tab 8, pp. 2-3.

Thus, it is clear that appellant's supplementary materials and substantive arguments were given the requisite consideration in the grading review process. The process was **not** restricted to whether appellant's answer matched the model answer. Appellant was allowed to challenge the correctness of the model answer as part of the grading review process.

Finally, it must be pointed out that appellant repeatedly refers to the materials included in his appendix at Tab 10 as being "endorsed by BLSE." Again, this is simply not so.

The materials at appendix, tab 10, reflect on their face that the review course at issue was a presentation of the Continuing Legal Education Committee and the Real Property, Probate and Trust Law Section.

The review course was neither presented nor "endorsed" by either BLSE or the Real Estate Certification Committee. Indeed, all promotions of such review course include a specific disclaimer as follows:

These courses will not necessarily prepare you for the Real Estate Certification Examination or the Wills, Trusts & Estate Certification Examination. The individuals involved in the preparation of the Certification Examinations have not contributed to the programs. The

Real Estate Certification exam will be in Orlando on May 14, 1996. The Wills, Trusts & Estates Certification exam will be in Orlando on May 13, 1996. Any questions regarding the exam may be directed to Ms. Ellen Day at (904) 561-5600, ext. 6791.

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